

Entanglement and entropy in multipartite systems: a useful approach

A. Bernal¹ · J. A. Casas¹ · J. M. Moreno¹

Received: 19 July 2023 / Accepted: 28 December 2023 / Published online: 9 February 2024 © The Author(s) 2024

Abstract

Quantum entanglement and quantum entropy are crucial concepts in the study of multipartite quantum systems. In this work, we show how the notion of concurrence vector, re-expressed in a particularly useful form, provides new insights and computational tools for the analysis of both. In particular, using this approach for a general multipartite pure state, one can easily prove known relations in an easy way and to build up new relations between the concurrences associated with the different bipartitions. The approach is also useful to derive sufficient conditions for genuine entanglement in generic multipartite systems that are computable in polynomial time. From an entropy-of-entanglement perspective, the approach is powerful to prove properties of the Tsallis-2 entropy, such as the subadditivity, and to derive new ones, e.g., a modified version of the strong subadditivity which is always fulfilled; thanks to the purification theorem these results hold for any multipartite state, whether pure or mixed.

Keywords Quantum entanglement · Concurrence · Entropy

Contents

| 1 | Introduction |
|---|--|
| 2 | Preliminaries |
| | 2.1 Notation |
| | 2.2 The concurrence vector |
| | 2.3 A useful expression |
| 3 | Connection between the entanglements of different bipartitions |
| 4 | Triangular inequalities |
| 5 | Subadditivity and strong subadditivity |

 J. A. Casas j.alberto.casas@gmail.com
 A. Bernal alexander.bernal@csic.es

¹ Instituto de Física Teórica, IFT-UAM/CSIC, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Cantoblanco, 28049 Madrid, Spain

| 6 | Sufficient conditions for genuine entanglement | 11 |
|---|--|----|
| 7 | Summary and conclusions | 13 |
| Appendix A. The equality in the triangular relation | | 14 |
| | 3 qubits and 3 qutrits | 15 |
| | Extension to arbitrary dimension | 16 |
| | Extension to non-disjoint systems | 17 |
| Re | eferences | 18 |

1 Introduction

Entanglement is a key notion in quantum mechanics and in the highly developing field of quantum information. For bipartite systems, $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$, there are rather simply criteria to detect and quantify the entanglement of pure states. In particular, if the state is entangled the reduced density matrix, $\rho_A = \text{tr}_B \rho$, corresponds to a mixed state, with $\text{tr}\rho_A^2 < 1$. Accordingly, the value of the concurrence, $C^2 \propto (1 - \text{tr}\rho_A^2)$ or the von Neumann entropy, $S = -\text{tr}\rho_A \ln \rho_A$ are standard measures of entanglement.

Things get more involved for multipartite Hilbert spaces, $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_N$. In that case there are $2^{N-1} - 1$ inequivalent bipartitions. If the system is entangled with respect to all of them, it is called a genuine multipartite entangled state. Apart from its theoretical importance, genuine entanglement is relevant for applications such as quantum cryptography [1], quantum computation [2], quantum teleportation [3], highprecision metrology [4], spin chains [5] and even biological systems [6]. The structure of genuine entanglement is quite intricate and its complexity grows exponentially with the number of subsystems. Actually, the problem of classifying and quantifying the genuine entanglement of general multipartite systems is still open (see [7–14] for relevant work in this subject).

In this work, we explore the power of the "concurrence vector" notion [15-18] to extract powerful information about the entanglement structure of a general multipartite pure state. In Sect. 2, we review the concept of concurrence vector and introduce a simple expression which turns out to be quite useful to establish connections between the entanglement of different bipartitions (Sect. 3). In Sect. 4, we show that this formalism allows a simple derivation and an intuitive, geometrical, understanding of several triangular inequalities presented in the literature. Also, it allows to obtain new inequalities and generalize results that were only proven for a system of three qubits (the complete proof of the latter is given in the Appendix). In Sect. 5, we explore the concurrence from an entropy-of-entanglement perspective, showing that the concurrence vector framework allows to easily prove the subadditivity condition for the Tsallis-2 entropy (directly related to the concurrence), as well as the violation of the strong subadditivity condition. In this sense, we propose a modified version of the strong subadditivity condition which is always fulfilled, and derive other new relations. Thanks to the purification theorem these results are completely general for multipartite states, whether pure or mixed. In Sect. 6, we exploit the concurrence vector approach to formulate very simple sufficient conditions for genuine entanglement, which are computable in polynomial time. Finally, the conclusions are presented in Sect. 7.

2 Preliminaries

2.1 Notation

We start with a multipartite Hilbert space

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_N, \tag{1}$$

using indices i, j, k, \cdots to design the basis vectors of $\mathcal{H}_1, H_2, H_3...$. Each index takes as many values as the dimension of the corresponding Hilbert space. We are not imposing any restriction here, i.e., each Hilbert space may have a different (finite) dimension.

Consider a bipartition $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\hat{A}}$, and denote *I* the subset of indices associated with \mathcal{H}_A and \hat{I} the complementary set of indices, associated with $\mathcal{H}_{\hat{A}}$ (in general we will denote collective indices with capital letters). Suppose now that the system is in a normalized pure state

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{i,j,k...} a_{ijk...} |i\rangle |j\rangle |k\rangle \cdots, \qquad (2)$$

with density matrix $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$. Then, the entanglement of this state with respect to the previous bipartition is often quantified by the concurrence [19–27],

$$C_{I|\hat{I}}^2 = 2\left(1 - \mathrm{tr}\rho_A^2\right),\tag{3}$$

where ρ_A is the reduced density matrix, i.e., after tracing in \hat{I} . (Other normalizations of $C_{I|\hat{I}}^2$, as well as alternative equivalent definitions, can be found in the literature.) The important point is that the state is biseparable if and only if $C_{I|\hat{I}}^2 = 0$.

2.2 The concurrence vector

Consider again the previous bipartition $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\hat{A}}$. Clearly, the state (2) is separable as long as it can be written as

$$|\psi\rangle = \left(\sum_{I} \alpha_{I} |I\rangle\right) \otimes \left(\sum_{\hat{I}} \beta_{\hat{I}} |\hat{I}\rangle\right),\tag{4}$$

so that

$$a_{ijk\dots} = a_{I\hat{I}} = \alpha_I \beta_{\hat{I}}.$$
(5)

🖄 Springer

Then, if we view $a_{I\hat{I}}$ as a matrix of coefficients, for a separable state it has rank=1, which means that all its 2 × 2 minors are vanishing. Denoting by

$$[a]_{\{I_1I_2\}\{\hat{I}_1\hat{I}_2\}} = a_{I_1\hat{I}_1}a_{I_2\hat{I}_2} - a_{I_1\hat{I}_2}a_{I_2\hat{I}_1}$$
(6)

the minor corresponding to the rows I_1 , I_2 and columns \hat{I}_1 , \hat{I}_2 , the state is biseparable *iff*

$$\sum_{I_1 < I_2, \hat{I}_1 < \hat{I}_2} \left| [a]_{\{I_1 I_2\}\{\hat{I}_1 \hat{I}_2\}} \right|^2 = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{I_1, I_2, \hat{I}_1, \hat{I}_2} \left| [a]_{\{I_1 I_2\}\{\hat{I}_1 \hat{I}_2\}} \right|^2 = 0.$$
(7)

Here I_1 , $I_2(\hat{I}_1, \hat{I}_2)$ run over all possible values of $I(\hat{I})$. The latter expression is actually equivalent to the concurrence definition (3). To check this, notice that

$$\frac{1}{4} \sum_{I_1, I_2, \hat{I}_1, \hat{I}_2} \left| [a]_{\{I_1 I_2\} \{ \hat{I}_1 \hat{I}_2\}} \right|^2 = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{I_1, I_2, \hat{I}_1, \hat{I}_2} [a]_{\{I_1 I_2\} \{ \hat{I}_1 \hat{I}_2\}} \left[a^{\dagger} \right]_{\{ \hat{I}_1 \hat{I}_2\} \{ I_1 I_2\}} \\
= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I_1, I_2} \left[a a^{\dagger} \right]_{\{I_1 I_2\} \{ I_1 I_2\}},$$
(8)

where the last expression is just the sum of the principal minors of the reduced density matrix $aa^{\dagger} = \rho_A$. On the other hand, by Cauchy-Binet theorem,

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{I_1,I_2} [\rho_A]_{\{I_1I_2\}\{I_1I_2\}} = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{I_1\neq I_2} \lambda_{I_1}\lambda_{I_2} = \frac{1}{2}(1-\sum\lambda_I^2) = \frac{1}{2}(1-\mathrm{tr}\rho_A^2), \quad (9)$$

where λ_I are the eigenvalues of ρ_A , and we have used $\sum \lambda_I = 1$. In summary, the concurrence definition (3) is equivalent to

$$C_{I|\hat{I}}^{2} = \sum_{I_{1}, I_{2}, \hat{I}_{1}, \hat{I}_{2}} \left| [a]_{\{I_{1}I_{2}\}\{\hat{I}_{1}\hat{I}_{2}\}} \right|^{2} = \|\vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}}\|^{2},$$
(10)

where the "concurrence vector" is the ordered list of all the minors of the matrix of coefficients $a_{I\hat{I}}$:

$$\vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}} = \{ [a]_{\{I_1I_2\}\{\hat{I}_1\hat{I}_2\}} \} = \{ a_{I_1\hat{I}_1} a_{I_2\hat{I}_2} - a_{I_1\hat{I}_2} a_{I_2\hat{I}_1} \}.$$
(11)

Note that, denoting $D = \dim \mathcal{H}$, the concurrence vector has length D^2 , since $a_{I\hat{I}}$ has D entries. The previous notion of concurrence vector has been already considered in the literature [15–18].

2.3 A useful expression

Let us express the concurrence vector (11) in a more useful way. First define the (dimension D^2) vector \vec{A} , with components

$$A_{i_1 j_1 k_1 \dots; i_2 j_2 k_2 \dots} = (a_{i_1 j_1 k_1 \dots}) (a_{i_2 j_2 k_2 \dots})$$
(12)

for all possible values of the indices. Notice that $A_{i_1j_1k_1...;i_2j_2k_2...}$ are simply the coefficients of the state $|\psi\rangle \otimes |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}$. If all the coefficients are real the entries of \vec{A} coincide with those of the density matrix, but this is not the general case. Under a permutation of the *i*-index, say P_i , associated with the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_1 , \vec{A} changes as¹

$$P_i A = \{ (a_{i_2 j_1 k_1 \dots}) \ (a_{i_1 j_2 k_2 \dots}) \}.$$
(13)

This is simply a certain re-ordering of the components of \vec{A} . Note that P_i are Hermitian linear operators satisfying $P_i^2 = 1$ and $[P_i, P_j] = 0$. Let us now consider an "elementary bipartition", i.e., one between one of the initial parties and the rest, say $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes (\mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_3 \otimes \cdots)$. Then the concurrence vector (11) (with I = i) reads

$$\vec{C}_{i|\hat{i}} = \{a_{i_1\hat{i}_1}a_{i_2\hat{i}_2} - a_{i_1\hat{i}_2}a_{i_2\hat{i}_1}\} = (\mathbb{1} - P_i)\vec{A}.$$
(14)

Similarly, the concurrence vector (11) associated to the bipartition $\mathcal{H} = (\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2) \otimes (\mathcal{H}_3 \otimes \cdots)$ reads

$$\vec{C}_{ij|\hat{ij}} = \{a_{i_1j_1\hat{i_1j_1}} a_{i_2j_2\hat{i_2j_2}} - a_{i_1j_1\hat{i_2j_2}} a_{i_2j_2\hat{i_1j_1}}\} = (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j)\vec{A}.$$
 (15)

These expressions are straightforwardly extended for other bipartitions. In general, for a bipartition $I|\hat{I}$, with I = i, j, ..., m (or any other subset of indices) the concurrence vector reads

$$\vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}} = \vec{C}_{\hat{I}|I} = (\mathbb{1} - P_I)\vec{A} \equiv (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j \cdots P_m)\vec{A}.$$
(16)

Mathematically, the elementary permutations, P_i , P_j ,... are the generators of the group of all permutations of indices, $\{P_I\}$, which is a commutative Z_2^N group. Note that $P_I \vec{A} = P_{\hat{I}} \vec{A}$ since \vec{A} is obviously symmetric under the interchange of all indices. So, the group contains 2^{N-1} inequivalent permutations, corresponding to the possible bipartitions of \mathcal{H} . This includes the trivial bipartition $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \emptyset$, corresponding to the identity of the group. So, there are in fact $2^{N-1} - 1$ non-trivial permutations and bipartitions. For each one, the associated concurrence vector is given by (16). Note also that $(1 - P_I)$ are "projectors", satisfying $(1 - P_I)^2 = 2(1 - P_I)$.

Next, we will exploit the notion of concurrence vector and its latter expression (16) to derive some direct consequences.

¹ If we view $A_{i_1j_1k_1,...;i_2,j_2k_2,...}$ as an $D \times D$ matrix (analogous to the density matrix associated with $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$), then this permutation is equivalent to perform a partial transpose in the *i*-index.

3 Connection between the entanglements of different bipartitions

The idea of concurrence vector allows to derive the entanglement of any of the $2^{N-1}-1$ different bipartitions from the entanglement of the *N* elementary bipartitions. In other words, we can use the concurrence vectors of the latter as building blocks to construct any other concurrence.

For example, the concurrence of two parts with respect to the rest, say $\vec{C}_{ij|\hat{i}j}$, is related to the elementary ones, $\vec{C}_{i|\hat{i}} \vec{C}_{i|\hat{j}}$, by

$$\vec{C}_{ij|\hat{i}\hat{j}} = (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j)\vec{A} = P_j \Big((\mathbb{1} - P_i) - (\mathbb{1} - P_j) \Big)\vec{A} = P_j \left(\vec{C}_{i|\hat{i}} - \vec{C}_{j|\hat{j}}\right),$$
(17)

or equivalently

$$\vec{C}_{ij|\hat{i}\hat{j}} = (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j)\vec{A} = \left((\mathbb{1} - P_i) + P_i(\mathbb{1} - P_j)\right)\vec{A} = \vec{C}_{i|\hat{i}} + P_i\vec{C}_{j|\hat{j}}.$$
 (18)

More generically, the concurrence vector, $\vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}}$, of an arbitrary bipartition, say $I = \{i, j, ..., m, n\}$, can be expressed as

$$\vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}} = (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j \cdots P_n) \vec{A} = \left[(\mathbb{1} - P_i) + (P_i - P_i P_j) + \dots + (P_i P_j \dots P_m - P_i P_j \dots P_m P_n) \right] \vec{A} = \vec{C}_{i|\hat{i}} + P_i \vec{C}_{j|\hat{j}} + P_i P_j \vec{C}_{k|\hat{k}} + \dots + P_i P_j \cdots P_m \vec{C}_{n|\hat{n}}.$$
(19)

This shows that the information contained in the *N* elementary concurrence vectors is enough to built any other concurrence vector, and thus the corresponding concurrence, $C_{I|\hat{I}}^2 = \|\vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}}\|^2$.

4 Triangular inequalities

Consider a tripartition of the Hilbert space $\{i, j, \hat{ij}\}$. The corresponding concurrence vectors are related by Eq. (17), which can be written as

$$P_{j}\vec{C}_{ij|\hat{i}\hat{j}} = \vec{C}_{i|\hat{i}} - \vec{C}_{j|\hat{j}}.$$
(20)

As these three vectors form a triangle, their lengths satisfy the triangular inequality. Since $||P_i \vec{C}_{ij|\hat{ij}}|| = ||\vec{C}_{ij|\hat{ij}}|| = C_{ij|\hat{ij}}$, the inequality reads

$$C_{ij|\hat{i}j} \le C_{i|\hat{i}} + C_{j|\hat{j}} \tag{21}$$

(and permutations of the three terms). This triangular inequality has been shown in previous literature, e.g., in refs [13, 14]. With the use of concurrence vectors it is a quite trivial result since the involved vectors form a triangle (with a permutation of components in one of them). This provides a transparent geometrical interpretation of the triangular inequality.

We can also show very easily the (stronger) inequality for the squared of the concurrences [28],

$$C_{ij|\hat{i}j}^{2} \le C_{i|\hat{i}}^{2} + C_{j|\hat{j}}^{2}$$
(22)

(and permutations). To see this notice that

$$C_{ij|\hat{i}\hat{j}}^{2} = \|(\mathbb{1} - P_{i}P_{j})\vec{A}\|^{2} = \|(\mathbb{1} - P_{i})\vec{A} - (\mathbb{1} - P_{j})\vec{A}\|^{2}$$
$$= C_{i|\hat{i}}^{2} + C_{j|\hat{j}}^{2} - 2\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1} - P_{i})(\mathbb{1} - P_{j})\vec{A},$$
(23)

where the last term is negative semidefinite:

$$-2\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}-P_{i})(\mathbb{1}-P_{j})\vec{A} = -\frac{1}{2}\vec{A}^{\dagger}((\mathbb{1}-P_{i})(\mathbb{1}-P_{j}))^{2}\vec{A}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\|(\mathbb{1}-P_{i})(\mathbb{1}-P_{j})\vec{A}\|^{2} \le 0.$$
(24)

Clearly, relations (21, 22) hold for any tripartition of the Hilbert space, i.e., the indices *i*, *j* can be replaced by collective indices *I*, *J* when $I \cap J = \emptyset$. If $I \cap J \neq \emptyset$ we simply note that

$$\vec{C}_{I \triangle J | \widehat{I \triangle J}} = (\mathbb{1} - P_I P_J) \vec{A} = P_J \Big((\mathbb{1} - P_I) - (\mathbb{1} - P_J) \Big) \vec{A} = P_J \Big(\vec{C}_{I | \widehat{I}} - \vec{C}_{J | \widehat{J}} \Big),$$
(25)

where $I \triangle J = I \cup J \setminus I \cap J$ is the set of indices in either *I* or *J*, but not in both. Hence, analogous expressions to Eqs. (23, 24) can be obtained,

$$C_{I \Delta J | \widehat{I \Delta J}}^{2} = C_{I | \widehat{I}}^{2} + C_{J | \widehat{J}}^{2} - 2\vec{A}^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1} - P_{I})(\mathbb{1} - P_{J})\vec{A},$$

$$-2\vec{A}^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1} - P_{I})(\mathbb{1} - P_{J})\vec{A} = -\frac{1}{2} \| (\mathbb{1} - P_{I})(\mathbb{1} - P_{J})\vec{A} \|^{2} \le 0, \qquad (26)$$

and in consequence the triangular inequalities (21, 22) generalize to non-disjoint subsystems as

$$C_{I \triangle J | \widehat{I \triangle J}} \leq C_{I | \widehat{I}} + C_{J | \widehat{J}},$$

$$C_{I \triangle J | \widehat{I \triangle J}}^{2} \leq C_{I | \widehat{I}}^{2} + C_{J | \widehat{J}}^{2}.$$
(27)

On the other hand, in ref. [29] it was shown that, *if* the system consists of three qubits, the inequality (22) becomes an equality only when either $C_{i|\hat{i}}$ or $C_{j|\hat{j}}$ are vanishing; otherwise the " \leq " sign in (22) becomes strict inequality "<". In Appendix A we show that this interesting result holds for any tripartition, independently of the dimension of the subsystems. As a consequence, the area of the "concurrence triangle" built up with the squared concurrences of a tripartite system is a consistent measure of genuine entanglement. This entanglement measure was advocated in ref.[14, 29] for systems

of three qubits, but this result shows that it can be extended to arbitrary dimension of the subsystems. Besides, the same property holds for non-disjoint tripartitions, i.e., Eq.(27) becomes an strict equality *iff* either $C_{I|\hat{I}}$ or $C_{I|\hat{I}}$ are vanishing.

Finally, using the general expression (19) one can go beyond tripartitions and derive other inequalities. An obvious one comes from the fact that the vectors involved in (19) form a (non-necessarily flat) polygon, so they satisfy the polygonal inequality (i.e., the extension of the triangular inequality to polygons). Since the permutations do not modify the norm of the various vectors involved, we conclude that

$$C_{I|\hat{i}} \leq C_{i|\hat{i}} + C_{j|\hat{j}} + \dots + C_{m|\hat{m}},$$

$$C_{I|\hat{i}}^{2} \leq C_{i|\hat{i}}^{2} + C_{j|\hat{j}}^{2} + \dots + C_{m|\hat{m}}^{2},$$
(28)

as well as

$$C_{I \triangle J \triangle \cdots \triangle M | I \triangle \widehat{J \triangle \cdots \triangle M}} \leq C_{I | \widehat{I}} + C_{J | \widehat{J}} + \dots + C_{M | \widehat{M}},$$

$$C_{I \triangle J \triangle \cdots \triangle M | I \triangle \widehat{J \triangle \cdots \triangle M}} \leq C_{I | \widehat{I}}^{2} + C_{J | \widehat{J}}^{2} + \dots + C_{M | \widehat{M}}^{2}$$
(29)

(and permutations).

A straightforward way to get new inequalities among concurrences is to consider the inequality

$$\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1} - P_I)(\mathbb{1} \pm P_J)(\mathbb{1} \pm P_K) \cdots (\mathbb{1} \pm P_M)\vec{A} \ge 0.$$
(30)

Since $(\mathbb{1} \pm P) = (\mathbb{1} \pm P)^2/2$, the l.h.s. of this equation is positive semidefinite, and it can be expressed as a combination of concurrences.

5 Subadditivity and strong subadditivity

From an entropy-of-entanglement perspective, the concurrence can be identified (up to a normalization factor) with the so-called Tsallis-2 (or "linear") entropy [30–32]

$$C_{I|\hat{I}}^{2} = 2\left(1 - \mathrm{tr}\rho_{A}^{2}\right) \equiv 2 S_{2}\left(\rho_{A}\right), \qquad (31)$$

where we have kept the notation previously introduced. Some of the well-known properties of the von Neumann entropy, $S_{VN}(\rho) = -\text{tr} (\rho \log \rho)$, are also shared by $S_2(\rho)[33]$. In particular, given two subsystems, $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$, the S_2 -entropy satisfies the *subadditivity* conditions [34, 35]:

$$|S_2(\rho_A) - S_2(\rho_B)| \le S_2(\rho_{AB}) \le S_2(\rho_A) + S_2(\rho_B).$$
(32)

The previous second inequality actually corresponds to the positivity of an informationtheory quantity known as mutual information, associated with the total amount of correlations in ρ_{AB} [36]

$$I(A:B) \equiv S_2(\rho_A) + S_2(\rho_B) - S_2(\rho_{AB}) \ge 0.$$
(33)

Now, these results stem trivially from the triangular inequalities (21, 22) by simply considering a tripartition of the Hilbert space, $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\overline{AB}}$, and identifying the indices *i*, *j* with the subsystems $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$. We stress that the subadditivity condition holds for an arbitrary density matrix ρ_{AB} . In this context, $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{AB}}$ can be considered as an extension of the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$, so that the global state becomes pure, which is always possible thanks to the purification theorem.

In addition, we observe the following interesting property. Since the triangular inequality (22) becomes an equality *iff* either $C_{i|\hat{i}}$ or $C_{j|\hat{j}}$ are vanishing (see discussion in Sect. 4 and a proof in Appendix A), it follows that the subadditivity condition (33) is saturated *iff* the entropy of one of the two subsystems is vanishing:

$$S_2(\rho_A) + S_2(\rho_B) - S_2(\rho_{AB}) = 0 \iff S_2(\rho_A) = 0 \text{ or } S_2(\rho_B) = 0.$$
 (34)

Further relations concerning the Tsallis-2 entropy have been tested and, among them, special attention has been paid to the *strong* subadditivity [37]. For a generic entropy, $S(\rho)$, strong subadditivity reads

$$S(\rho_{ABC}) + S(\rho_B) \le S(\rho_{AB}) + S(\rho_{BC})$$
, i.e. $I(A:B) \le I(A:BC)$, (35)

where the last expression indicates that correlations are non-decreasing under the extension of one of the subsystems. It is well known that von Neumann entropy, $S_{VN}(\rho)$, satisfies the strong subadditivity condition [37]. In contrast, generically the Tsallis-2 entropy, $S_2(\rho)$, does *not* satisfy it, as it was proven in ref. [38] by constructing several counterexamples. We can easily check this result using the concurrence-vector approach. Consider a Hilbert space partitioned as $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\overline{ABC}}$, i.e., $\{i, j, k, ijk\}$. In terms of concurrences, condition (35) for $S_2(\rho)$ would read

$$C_{ijk|\hat{ijk}}^{2} + C_{j|\hat{j}}^{2} - C_{ij|\hat{ij}}^{2} - C_{jk|\hat{jk}}^{2} \le 0.$$
(36)

However, the l.h.s. of this relation is exactly the quantity:

$$2\vec{A}^{\dagger} \left((\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j P_k) + (\mathbb{1} - P_j) - (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_j) - (\mathbb{1} - P_j P_k) \right) \vec{A} = -2\vec{A}^{\dagger} P_j (\mathbb{1} - P_i) (\mathbb{1} - P_k) \vec{A},$$
(37)

which is not negative semidefinite, showing that strong subadditivity (36) can be violated for particular choices of the state \vec{A} . E.g., for $(1 - P_i P_j)\vec{A} = 0$, i.e., $C_{ij|\hat{i}j}^2 = 0$, the expression (37) becomes

$$2\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1} - P_j)(\mathbb{1} - P_k)\vec{A} \ge 0.$$
(38)

🖉 Springer

This inequality is strict *iff*, moreover, $C_{j|\hat{j}}^2$, $C_{k|\hat{k}}^2 \neq 0$ (see discussion after Eq.(27) and Appendix A), thus leading to the violation of the strong subadditivity. An example of this setup is a state $|\text{Bell}\rangle_{AB} \otimes |\text{Bell}\rangle_{C\overline{ABC}} \in \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\overline{ABC}}$.

On the other hand, the quantity (37) becomes obviously negative semidefinite for $P_j \vec{A} = \vec{A}$, i.e., $C_{i|\hat{j}}^2 = 0$,

$$-2\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}-P_{i})(\mathbb{1}-P_{k})\vec{A}\leq0,$$
(39)

so in this case the strong subadditivity is fulfilled. Actually, this instance is equivalent to the "ordinary" subadditivity (32) for the tripartition $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\widehat{AC}}$.

Notice also that for $C_{i|\hat{i}}^2 = 0$ or $C_{k|\hat{k}}^2 = 0$ Eq.(37) vanishes, so the strong subadditivity holds as an equality.

To finish this section, let us construct a modified version of the strong subadditivity which does always hold for the Tsallis-2 entropy (31). Expanding the inequality (see Eq. (30))

$$\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1} - P_i)(\mathbb{1} + P_j)(\mathbb{1} - P_k)\vec{A} \ge 0$$
(40)

we get

$$C_{ijk|\hat{ijk}}^{2} + C_{j|\hat{j}}^{2} \le C_{ij|\hat{ij}}^{2} + C_{jk|\hat{jk}}^{2} + \left(C_{i|\hat{i}}^{2} + C_{k|\hat{k}}^{2} - C_{ik|\hat{ik}}^{2}\right), \tag{41}$$

where the term within brackets is positive semidefinite, see Eq. (22), and represents the departure from the strong subadditivity condition (36). In terms of the Tsallis-2 entropy this softened version of strong subadditivity reads

$$S_{2}(\rho_{ABC}) + S_{2}(\rho_{B}) \leq S_{2}(\rho_{AB}) + S_{2}(\rho_{BC}) + \left[S_{2}(\rho_{A}) + S_{2}(\rho_{C}) - S_{2}(\rho_{AC})\right],$$

where the positivity (semi)definiteness of the term in brackets is equivalent to the ordinary subadditivity condition (32). In terms of mutual information this relation reads $I(A : B) \leq I(A : BC) + I(A : C)$. Since we can exchange $B \leftrightarrow C$, it can be expressed as

$$|I(A:B) - I(A:C)| \le I(A:BC).$$
(42)

On the other hand, we can yet construct an alternative subadditivity using the general relation (27). By considering a Hilbert space partitioned as $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\widehat{ABC}}$, and identifying $I = \{i, j\}, J = \{j, k\}$, we get

$$C_{ik|\hat{i}k}^{2} \le C_{ij|\hat{i}j}^{2} + C_{jk|\hat{j}k}^{2}.$$
(43)

In terms of entropies:

$$S_2(\rho_{AC}) \le S_2(\rho_{AB}) + S_2(\rho_{BC}),$$
 (44)

which is a kind of triangular inequality for the S_2 -entropies. Analogously to the ordinary subadditivity, the fact that relation (43) becomes an equality *iff* either $C_{ij|\hat{ij}}$ or $C_{jk|\hat{ik}}$ are vanishing (see Appendix A), it follows that

$$S_2(\rho_{AC}) = S_2(\rho_{AB}) + S_2(\rho_{BC}) \iff S_2(\rho_{AB}) = 0 \text{ or } S_2(\rho_{BC}) = 0.$$
 (45)

Concerning the mutual information, further inequalities can also be derived. In particular, applying Eq. (30) to the combination $(\mathbb{1} - P_i)(\mathbb{1} - P_j)(\mathbb{1} - P_k)$ we obtain a non-negative condition over the tripartite information [39]

$$S_{2}(\rho_{AB}) + S_{2}(\rho_{BC}) + S_{2}(\rho_{AC}) \leq S_{2}(\rho_{A}) + S_{2}(\rho_{B}) + S_{2}(\rho_{C}) + S_{2}(\rho_{ABC})$$

$$\Rightarrow I(A:B:C) \geq 0,$$
(46)

where I(A : B : C) = I(A : B) + I(A : C) - I(A : BC). The sign of this quantity for the von Neumann entropy has been explored in the literature [39]. For the case of holographic theories it has been proven to be non-positive (Monogamy of Mutual Information) [40], i.e., exactly the opposite behavior as the one found above for the Tsallis-2 entropy. The same relation in a similar context was obtained in refs. [41, 42].

6 Sufficient conditions for genuine entanglement

Let us now use the idea of concurrence vector and its expression (16) to derive new sufficient conditions for genuine entanglement, which are computable in polynomial time.

For the sake of the clarity of the discussion, let us denote P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_N the elementary permutations associated with the indices i, j, k, \ldots , corresponding to the Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_N$.

N even

Consider the vector

$$\vec{V}_N = (\mathbb{1} - P_1)(\mathbb{1} - P_2) \cdots (\mathbb{1} - P_{N-1})\vec{A},$$
(47)

which is a linear combination of all the concurrences:

$$\vec{V}_N = \sum_{I \subset \{1,2,\dots,N-1\}} (-1)^{\#I} (\mathbb{1} - P_I) \vec{A} = \sum_{I \subset \{1,2,\dots,N-1\}} (-1)^{\#I} \vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}}, \qquad (48)$$

where #*I* is the cardinality of *I*. The subscript *N* indicates that the $(\mathbb{1} - P_N)$ factor has been left outside the product in Eq. (47). In this way, we avoid the duplication of concurrences, since $(\mathbb{1} - P_I)\vec{A}$ and $(\mathbb{1} - P_{\hat{I}})\vec{A}$ are equal and correspond to the same bipartition. Now suppose that there exists a permutation $P_{\Sigma} = P_{\sigma_1}P_{\sigma_2}\cdots P_{\sigma_m}$ with *m* odd, such that

$$(1 - P_{\Sigma})\vec{A} = 0.$$
 (49)

🖄 Springer

In other words, suppose that the state is separable along the bipartition $\Sigma | \hat{\Sigma}$. Without loss of generality, we can suppose $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_m \leq N - 1$ (otherwise, consider the equivalent permutation $P_{\hat{\Sigma}}$ instead of P_{Σ}). Then, Eq. (47) vanishes since the terms of the sum can be paired as:

$$\vec{V}_N = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I \subset \{1, 2, \dots, N-1\}} (-1)^{\#I} \left((\mathbb{1} - P_I) - (\mathbb{1} - P_I P_{\Sigma}) \right) \vec{A} = 0.$$
(50)

In consequence, if $\vec{V}_N \neq 0$, this is a sufficient condition to exclude any separable "odd" bipartition. It is remarkable that this check of the $\sim 2^{N-2}$ odd bipartitions is carried out by N-1 simple operations on \vec{A} .

The previous condition though says nothing about the possibility of $(\mathbb{1} - P_{\Sigma})\vec{A} = 0$ where $P_{\Sigma} = P_{\sigma_1}P_{\sigma_2}\cdots P_{\sigma_m}$ with *m* even (again we can assume $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \cdots, \sigma_m \leq N-1$). To probe this instance we construct the following N-1 vectors

$$\vec{W}_{N}^{(1)} = (\mathbb{1} + P_{1})(\mathbb{1} - P_{2}) \cdots (\mathbb{1} - P_{N-1})\vec{A},$$

$$\vec{W}_{N}^{(2)} = (\mathbb{1} - P_{1})(\mathbb{1} + P_{2}) \cdots (\mathbb{1} - P_{N-1})\vec{A},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vec{W}_{N}^{(N-1)} = (\mathbb{1} - P_{1})(\mathbb{1} - P_{2}) \cdots (\mathbb{1} + P_{N-1})\vec{A}.$$
(51)

I.e., $\vec{W}_N^{(k)}$ is like \vec{V}_N , with the sign of P_k flipped. It can also be expressed as a linear combination of concurrences:

$$\vec{W}_{N}^{(k)} = \sum_{I \subset \{1,2,\dots,N-1\}} (-1)^{[I]_{k}} (-1)^{\#I} (\mathbb{1} - P_{I}) \vec{A}$$
$$= \sum_{I \subset \{1,2,\dots,N-1\}} (-1)^{[I]_{k}} (-1)^{\#I} \vec{C}_{I|\hat{I}},$$
(52)

where $[I]_k = 1$ (0) for $k \in I$ ($k \notin I$). Now, if $k \in \Sigma$, the previous expression can be cast as

$$\vec{W}_{N}^{(k)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I \subset \{1, 2, \dots, N-1\}} (-1)^{[I]_{k}} (-1)^{\#I} \left[(\mathbb{1} - P_{I}) - (\mathbb{1} - P_{I} P_{\Sigma}) \right] \vec{A} = 0.$$
(53)

Consequently, if $(\mathbb{1} - P_{\sigma_1} P_{\sigma_2} \cdots P_{\sigma_m}) \vec{A} = 0$, with *m* even, at least one $\vec{W}_N^{(k)}$ must vanish. Correspondingly, if all $\vec{W}_N^{(k)} \neq 0$, this suffices to exclude the possibility of a separable even bipartition. Note that the condition for *m* even requires $(N - 1)^2$ operations, still a polynomial task.

In summary, the conditions $\vec{V}_N \neq 0$, $\vec{W}_N^{(k)} \neq 0 \forall k$ are sufficient to guarantee that the state is genuinely entangled. *N* odd Suppose that there exists a permutation $P_{\Sigma} = P_{\sigma_1} P_{\sigma_2} \cdots P_{\sigma_m}$ such that

$$(\mathbb{1} - P_{\Sigma})\dot{A} = 0. \tag{54}$$

Without loss of generality, we can suppose *m* odd (otherwise, consider the equivalent permutation $P_{\hat{\Sigma}}$ instead of P_{Σ}). Now, if $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_m \leq N - 1$, then \vec{V}_N , defined by Eq. (47), vanishes, as discussed around Eq. (50). Of course, it may happen that not all $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_m \leq N - 1$. However, if we consider the following *N* vectors

$$\vec{V}_{1} = (\mathbb{1} - P_{2})(\mathbb{1} - P_{3}) \cdots (\mathbb{1} - P_{N})\vec{A},$$

$$\vec{V}_{2} = (\mathbb{1} - P_{1})(\mathbb{1} - P_{3}) \cdots (\mathbb{1} - P_{N})\vec{A},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vec{V}_{N} = (\mathbb{1} - P_{1})(\mathbb{1} - P_{2}) \cdots (\mathbb{1} - P_{N-1})\vec{A},$$
(55)

it is clear that all the indices $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_m$ will be contained in at least one of them. Then, at least one $\vec{V}_k = 0$.

Consequently if all $\vec{V}_k \neq 0$, then the state is genuinely entangled. This check accomplishes N^2 operations.

Incidentally, for N = 3 the previous conditions, i.e., $\vec{V}_1 \neq 0$, $\vec{V}_2 \neq 0$, are also necessary conditions for genuine entanglement since, as discussed in Sect. 4, $(1 - P_i)(1 - P_j)\vec{A} = 0 \iff (1 - P_i)\vec{A} = 0$ or $(1 - P_j)\vec{A} = 0$.

7 Summary and conclusions

Quantum entanglement and quantum entropy are crucial concepts in the study of multipartite quantum systems. In this work, we have shown how the notion of concurrence vector, Eq. (11), re-expressed in the particular useful form (16) (which is central for the present work), provides new insights and computational tools for the analysis of both.

In a multipartite system, states with genuine entanglement are by definition those that are entangled under any possible bipartition. Using the approach described here for a general multipartite pure state, it is easy to obtain equalities that relate the concurrence vectors of different bipartitions, and thus about the genuine entanglement of the system. On the one hand, this provides interesting geometrical insights, e.g., the well-known triangular inequality for concurrences arises from the trivial fact that the corresponding concurrence vectors form a triangle. On the other hand, it allows to prove known relations in an easy way and to build up new ones. An example of the latter is the fact that the triangular inequality $C_{AB|\overline{AB}}^2 \leq C_{A|\widehat{A}}^2 + C_{B|\widehat{B}}^2$ becomes an equality *iff* $C_{A|\widehat{A}} = 0$ or $C_{B|\widehat{B}} = 0$; a result that was proven in ref. [29] only for the three-qubit case. In consequence, the area of the triangle built up with the squared concurrences is a sound measurement of genuine entanglement for generic tripartite systems, as was proposed in refs. [14, 29] for the three-qubit case. The present concurrence-vector

approach is also useful to derive sufficient conditions for entanglement in generic multipartite systems that are computable in polynomial time.

From an entropy-of-entanglement perspective, the concurrence of a bipartite system in a pure state can be identified (up to a normalization factor) with the so-called Tsallis-2 entropy, $S_2(\rho_A)$, in one of the two subsystems. This allows to use the present approach to easily prove relations such as the subadditivity of S_2 . Likewise, it is a useful tool to prove new relations, e.g., a modified version of the strong subadditivity which is always fulfilled. Thanks to the purification theorem all these results hold for any multipartite state, whether pure or mixed.

All this shows that the concurrence vector approach is a useful tool for the study of the entanglement and the entropy of multipartite systems.

Acknowledgements We are grateful to G. Sierra for useful discussions. The authors acknowledge the support of the Spanish Agencia Estatal de Investigacion through the grants "IFT Centro de Excelencia Severo Ochoa CEX2020-001007-S" and PID2019-110058GB-C22 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by ERDF. The work of A.B. is supported through the FPI grant PRE2020-095867 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033.

Funding Open Access funding provided thanks to the CRUE-CSIC agreement with Springer Nature.

Data availability All data and material considered in this paper are included in the text.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they do not have conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Appendix A. The equality in the triangular relation

As mentioned in Sect. 4, for a system of *three qubits* the triangular inequality

$$C_{ij|\hat{i}j}^{2} \le C_{i\hat{i}}^{2} + C_{j|\hat{j}}^{2}$$
(56)

becomes an equality *iff* either $C_{i|\hat{i}} = 0$ or $C_{j|\hat{j}} = 0$. This interesting result was proven in ref. [29]. Here we extend it to any tripartite system or any tripartition, independently of the dimensions of the involved Hilbert spaces.

From Eqs. (23, 24) the equality in the relation (56) is equivalent to the condition

$$(1 - P_i)(1 - P_i)\dot{A} = 0, (57)$$

where \vec{A} is the vector of the coefficients of the state $|\psi\rangle \otimes |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}$, see Eq. (12). Taking into account that for any bipartition $I|\hat{I}$ the concurrence reads $C_{I|\hat{I}}^2 = ||(\mathbb{1} - P_i)\vec{A}||^2$, our goal is to prove that Eq. (57) requires $(\mathbb{1} - P_i)\vec{A} = 0$ or $(\mathbb{1} - P_j)\vec{A} = 0$.

3 qubits and 3 qutrits

Let us first consider the case of three qubits, so that

$$A_{ijk;\,i'j'k'} = (a_{ijk})\,(a_{i'j'k'}) \tag{58}$$

with all indices taking two possible values, 0 and 1. Thus, in this case Eq. (57) represents $(2^3)^2$ quadratic equations in the a_{ijk} variables. Actually, most of them are trivial, i.e., the l.h.s. of (57) is identically zero. For the non-trivial ones has always the form $\pm q_0$, $\pm q_1$ or $\pm q_2$, with

$$q_0 = a_{010}a_{100} - a_{000}a_{110},$$

$$q_1 = a_{011}a_{101} - a_{001}a_{111},$$

$$q_2 = a_{011}a_{100} + a_{010}a_{101} - a_{001}a_{110} - a_{000}a_{111}$$
(59)

(notice that $q_1 = q_0|_{a_{ij0} \leftrightarrow a_{ij1}}$). Consequently, Eq. (57) is equivalent to

$$\{q_0, q_1, q_2\} = \{0, 0, 0\}.$$
(60)

Incidentally, a similar result was obtained in refs. [43, 44] for different linear combinations of these vectors. By a careful (and lengthy) inspection it is possible to check that the only consistent possibility to fulfill Eq. (60) is indeed that either $(1 - P_i)\vec{A} = 0$ or $(1 - P_j)\vec{A} = 0$. However, a more expeditious way to show this is the following. Using Singular, a computer algebra system for polynomial computations [45] it is easy to prove that

$$\|(\mathbb{1} - P_1)\vec{A}\|^2 \|(\mathbb{1} - P_2)\vec{A}\|^2 = s_0q_0 + s_1q_1 + s_2q_2 \tag{61}$$

for some -sextic- polynomials $\{s_0, s_1, s_2\}$ on the variables a_{ijk}, a_{ijk}^* . (The explicit form of s_0, s_1, s_2 is quite longish and of no particular interest, so we omit it.). Thus, indeed, Eq. (57) requires $(\mathbb{1} - P_i)\vec{A} = 0$ or $(\mathbb{1} - P_j)\vec{A} = 0$ and the statement is proven for three qubits.

A similar computation shows that the same statement holds for a system of three qutrits, i.e., when the indices of \vec{A} in Eq. (58) take the values 0, 1, 2. In this case, the calculation is more involved: Eq. (57) represents $(3^3)^2$ quadratic equations, 54 of which are non-equivalent. The complexity of Eq. (57) grows geometrically with the dimension of the Hilbert spaces of the three subsystems. However, the result for three qutrits is all we need to recursively extend statement to any dimension, as shown below.

Extension to arbitrary dimension

The above result for three qutrits can be re-stated in the following way. Given, by hypothesis, Eq. (57), if $(1 - P_j)\vec{A} \neq 0$ for some component(s) of \vec{A} , then necessarily $(1 - P_i)\vec{A} = 0$ for all components. (Of course the same holds for $i \leftrightarrow j$.)

It is convenient at this point to define the restriction of the vector \vec{A} to a subset of components, i.e., to the subspace spanned by a subset of indices. E.g.,

$$\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2)(j_1j_2)(k_1k_2)} = \{a_{ijk} a_{i'j'k'}\} \text{ with } i, i' \in \{i_1, i_2\}, j, j' \in \{j_1, j_2\}, k, k' \in \{k_1, k_2\}.$$
(62)

Note that the action of P_i , P_j or P_k on this restricted vector keeps it inside the same subspace. In this notation, the previous result for qutrits reads as follows. Given a state such that $(\mathbb{1} - P_i)(\mathbb{1} - P_j)\vec{A} = 0$ and

$$(\mathbb{1} - P_j)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2)(j_1j_2)(k_1k_2)} \neq 0$$
(63)

(for some component(s)), then

$$(1 - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3)(j_1j_2j_3)(k_1k_2k_3)} = 0.$$
(64)

To extend this result to higher dimensions, let us consider the multipartite Hilbert space

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_3, \tag{65}$$

with dim $\mathcal{H}_n = d_n \ge 4$. Our hypothesis is again Eqs. (57) and (63) in some subspace corresponding to the indices $\{(i_1i_2) (j_1j_2) (k_1k_2)\}$, i.e., some subspace of three qubits. Let us consider the addition of a fourth set of indices $\{i_4j_4k_4\}$. Our goal is to show that

$$(\mathbb{1} - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3i_4)(j_1j_2j_3j_4)(k_1k_2k_3k_4)} = 0.$$
(66)

Since we have shown that we can go from Eqs. (63) and (64) for *any* new indices i_3 , j_3 , k_3 , it follows that Eq. (66) is satisfied by many subsets of components, namely those corresponding to extend the three qubits of Eq. (63) to any three qutrits:

$$\begin{aligned} (1 - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3)(j_1j_2j_3)(k_1k_2k_3)} &= 0, \\ (1 - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3)(j_1j_2j_3)(k_1k_2k_4)} &= 0, \\ (1 - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3)(j_1j_2j_4)(k_1k_2k_4)} &= 0, \\ \text{etc.} \end{aligned}$$
(67)

Hence, the only components to check are those $A_{ijk;i'j'k'} = (a_{ijk}) (a_{i'j'k'})$ where $i = i_3, i' = i_4$ (or vice versa) and/or $j = j_3, j' = j_4$ (or vice versa) and/or $k = k_3, k' = k_4$

(or vice versa). Let $A_{pqr;p'q'r'} = (a_{pqr}) (a_{p'q'r'})$ be one of such components. We have to show that $(1 - P_i)A_{pqr;p'q'r'} = 0$, i.e.,

$$(a_{pqr}) (a_{p'q'r'}) = (a_{p'qr}) (a_{pq'r'}).$$
(68)

From Eq. (63), there must be some component of $\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2)(j_1j_2)(k_1k_2)}$ different from zero. Suppose $A_{i_1j_1k_1; i_2j_2k_2} = (a_{i_1j_1k_1}) (a_{i_2j_2k_2}) \neq 0$ (the argument goes the same for any other component). Then the following chain of equalities follow from Eq. (67):

$$(a_{i_1j_1k_1}) (a_{i_2j_2k_2}) (a_{pqr}) (a_{p'q'r'}) = (a_{pj_1k_1}) (a_{p'j_2k_2}) (a_{i_1qr}) (a_{i_2p'r'}) = (a_{i_2j_1k_1}) (a_{i_1j_2k_2}) (a_{p'qr}) (a_{pq'r'}) = (a_{i_1j_1k_1}) (a_{i_2j_2k_2}) (a_{p'qr}) (a_{pq'r'}).$$
(69)

Canceling the common factor in the first and latter expression, which by hypothesis is different from zero, we obtain

$$(a_{pqr}) (a_{p'q'r'}) = (a_{p'qr}) (a_{pq'r'})$$
(70)

as desired. Consequently, Eq. (66) holds.

The extension of the previous result to any other set of indices is straightforward. E.g., if we enlarge the dimension of \mathcal{H}_1 up to 6, so that there two new possibilities: i_5, i_6 , the whole argument holds for

$$(\mathbb{1} - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2\ i'\ i'')\ (j_1j_2j_3j_4)\ (k_1k_2k_3k_4)} = 0,\tag{71}$$

with $(i' i') \in \{(i_3i_5), (i_3i_6), (i_4i_5), (i_4i_6), (i_5i_6)\}$. This includes all the components of $\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3i_4i_5i_6)}(j_{1j_2j_3j_4})(k_1k_2k_3k_4)$, thus

$$(1 - P_i)\vec{A}^{(i_1i_2i_3i_4i_5i_6)(j_1j_2j_3j_4)(k_1k_2k_3k_4)} = 0.$$
(72)

In a similar fashion the result is extended to arbitrary dimensions of the three subsystems.

Extension to non-disjoint systems

When considering non-disjoint systems we have to deal with collective indices, I, J such that $I \cap J \neq \emptyset$. Then, as was shown in Sect. 4, the triangular inequality for the square concurrences reads

$$C_{I \triangle J | \widehat{I \triangle J}}^2 \le C_{I | \widehat{I}}^2 + C_{J | \widehat{J}}^2, \tag{73}$$

where $I \bigtriangleup J = I \cup J \setminus I \cap J$ is the set of indices in either I or J, but not in both.

Following a procedure analogous to the one in previous subsections, it is straightforward to show that this relation becomes an equality *iff* either $C_{I|\hat{I}}$ or $C_{J|\hat{J}}$ are vanishing.

More precisely, one starts by considering a tetrapartition $\{i, j, k, ijk\}$, identifying $I = \{i, k\}, J = \{j, k\}$. Then Eq. (73) becomes

$$C_{ij|\hat{ij}}^{2} \le C_{ik|\hat{ik}}^{2} + C_{jk|\hat{jk}}^{2}.$$
(74)

From Eq. (26) the equality in this relation (74) is equivalent to the condition

$$-2\vec{A}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1} - P_i P_k)(\mathbb{1} - P_j P_k)\vec{A} = 0 \iff (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_k)(\mathbb{1} - P_j P_k)\vec{A} = 0.$$
(75)

So our goal is to prove the following implication

$$(\mathbb{1} - P_i P_k)(\mathbb{1} - P_j P_k)\vec{A} = 0 \implies (\mathbb{1} - P_i P_k)\vec{A} = 0 \text{ or } (\mathbb{1} - P_j P_k)\vec{A} = 0.$$
 (76)

As for the disjoint case the strategy is to show "by brute force" (using Singular) that this is indeed the case for 4 qutrits, and then extend the result in a recursive way to higher dimensions. The procedure is completely analogous, but rather long and tedious, so we prefer to spare the reader.

References

- 1. Ekert, A.K.: Quantum cryptography based on Bell's theorem. Phys. Rev. Lett. 67, 661–663 (1991)
- 2. Raussendorf, R., Briegel, H.J.: A one-way quantum computer. Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 5188-5191 (2001)
- Bennett, C.H., Brassard, G., Crépeau, C., Jozsa, R., Peres, A., Wootters, W.K.: Teleporting an unknown quantum state via dual classical and Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen channels. Phys. Rev. Lett. 70, 1895–1899 (1993)
- Giovannetti, V., Lloyd, S., Maccone, L.: Quantum-enhanced measurements: beating the standard quantum limit. Science 306, 1330–1336 (2004)
- Bruß, D., Datta, N., Ekert, A., Kwek, L.C., Macchiavello, C.: Multipartite entanglement in quantum spin chains. Phys. Rev. A 72, 014301 (2005)
- Sarovar, M., Ishizaki, A., Fleming, G.R., Whaley, K.B.: Quantum entanglement in photosynthetic light-harvesting complexes. Nat. Phys. 6, 462–467 (2010)
- 7. Gühne, O., Tóth, G.: Entanglement detection. Phys. Rep. 474, 1-75 (2009)
- Eltschka, C., Siewert, J.: Quantifying entanglement resources. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 47, 424005 (2014)
- Miyake, A.: Classification of multipartite entangled states by multidimensional determinants. Phys. Rev. A 67, 012108 (2003)
- Gühne, O., Seevinck, M.: Separability criteria for genuine multiparticle entanglement. J. Phys. 12, 053002 (2010)
- Moroder, T., Bancal, J.-D., Liang, Y.-C., Hofmann, M., Gühne, O.: Device-independent entanglement quantification and related applications. Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 030501 (2013)
- Ma, Z.-H., Chen, Z.-H., Chen, J.-L., Spengler, C., Gabriel, A., Huber, M.: Measure of genuine multipartite entanglement with computable lower bounds. Phys. Rev. A 83, 062325 (2011)
- Qian, X.-F., Wadood, S.A., Vamivakas, A.N., Eberly, J.H.: Quantification and observation of genuine three-party coherence: a solution based on classical optics. Phys. Rev. A 102, 062424 (2020)
- Jin, Z.-X., Tao, Y.-H., Gui, Y.-T., Fei, S.-M., Li-Jost, X., Qiao, C.-F.: Concurrence triangle induced genuine multipartite entanglement measure. Res. Phys. 44, 106155 (2023)
- Audenaert, K., Verstraete, F., De Moor, B.: Variational characterizations of separability and entanglement of formation. Phys. Rev. A 64, 052304 (2001)
- Badziag, P., Horodecki, M., Horodecki, P., Horodecki, R.: Local environment can enhance fidelity of quantum teleportation. Phys. Rev. A 62, 012311 (2000)
- Akhtarshenas, S.J.: Concurrence vectors in arbitrary multipartite quantum systems. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 38, 6777 (2005)

- Li, Y.-Q., Zhu, G.-Q.: Concurrence vectors for entanglement of high-dimensional systems. Front. Phys. China 3, 250–257 (2008)
- Hill, S.A., Wootters, W.K.: Entanglement of a pair of quantum bits. Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 5022–5025 (1997)
- Wootters, W.K.: Entanglement of formation of an arbitrary state of two qubits. Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 2245–2248 (1998)
- 21. Uhlmann, A.: Fidelity and concurrence of conjugated states. Phys. Rev. A 62, 032307 (2000)
- Rungta, P., Bužek, V., Caves, C.M., Hillery, M., Milburn, G.J.: Universal state inversion and concurrence in arbitrary dimensions. Phys. Rev. A 64, 042315 (2001)
- Rungta, P., Caves, C.M.: Concurrence-based entanglement measures for isotropic states. Phys. Rev. A 67, 012307 (2003)
- Albeverio, S., Fei, S.M.: A note on invariants and entanglements. J. Opt. B Quantum Semiclass. Opt. 3, 223–227 (2001)
- 25. Vidal, G., Tarrach, R.: Robustness of entanglement. Phys. Rev. A 59, 141-155 (1999)
- 26. Steiner, M.: Generalized robustness of entanglement. Phys. Rev. A 67, 054305 (2003)
- Krynytskyi, Y.S., Kuzmak, A.R.: Derivation of the robustness from the concurrence. Mod. Phys. Lett. A 36, 2150166 (2021)
- Zhu, X.-N., Fei, S.-M.: Generalized monogamy relations of concurrence for *n*-qubit systems. Phys. Rev. A 92, 062345 (2015)
- 29. Xie, S., Eberly, J.H.: Triangle measure of tripartite entanglement. Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 040403 (2021)
- 30. Tsallis, C.: Possible generalization of Boltzmann-Gibbs statistics. J. Stat. Phys. 52, 479-487 (1988)
- 31. Hu, X., Ye, Z.: Generalized quantum entropy. J. Math. Phys. 47, 023502 (2006)
- Landsberg, P.T., Vedral, V.: Distributions and channel capacities in generalized statistical mechanics. Phys. Lett. A 247, 211–217 (1998)
- 33. Rastegin, A.E.: Some general properties of unified entropies. J. Stat. Phys. 143, 1120-1135 (2011)
- 34. Raggio, G.A.: Properties of q-entropies. J. Math. Phys. 36, 4785–4791 (1995)
- 35. Audenaert, K.M.: Subadditivity of q -entropies for q > 1. J. Math. Phys. 48, 083507 (2007)
- Groisman, B., Popescu, S., Winter, A.: Quantum, classical, and total amount of correlations in a quantum state. Phys. Rev. A 72, 032317 (2005)
- Lieb, E.H., Ruskai, M.B.: Proof of the strong subadditivity of quantum-mechanical entropy. J. Math. Phys. 14, 1938–1941 (1973)
- Petz, D., Virosztek, D.: Some inequalities for quantum Tsallis entropy related to the strong subadditivity. Math. Ineq. Appl. 18, 555–568 (2015)
- Casini, H., Huerta, M.: Remarks on the entanglement entropy for disconnected regions. JHEP 03, 048 (2009)
- Hayden, P., Headrick, M., Maloney, A.: Holographic mutual information is monogamous. Phys. Rev. D 87, 046003 (2013)
- 41. Eltschka, C., Siewert, J.: Distribution of entanglement and correlations in all finite dimensions. Quantum **2**, 64 (2018)
- Uskov, D., Rau, A.R.P.: Geometric phases and Bloch sphere constructions for SU(N), with a complete description of SU(4). Phys. Rev. A 78, 022331 (2008)
- 44. Uskov, D.B., Alsing, P.M.: Vector properties of entanglement in a three-qubit system. Phys. Rev. A **102**, 032401 (2020)
- 45. Decker, W., Greuel, G.-M., Pfister, G., Schönemann, H.: SINGULAR 4-3-0—A computer algebra system for polynomial computations. http://www.singular.uni-kl.de (2022)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.